
The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through    
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

AGENDA  

PUBLIC HEARING IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWED 

BY REGULAR BOARD MEETING  

BRESNAN MEETING CENTER  

706 Kenwood Road  

Champaign, Illinois  

Citizens may livestream or listen to the Public Hearing and Regular Meetings by accessing the following web 

address or phone number: 

 https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85889942842?pwd=TWdrNXUxS3NpbURPdmgrd2xpMHBVUT09 

Public comment is not available through online video or telephone at this time. For those who are interested in 

sharing public comment, please join the meeting in-person at the address, time, and date listed above.  

For online video access, please use the following Meeting ID and Password when prompted: 

Meeting ID: 858 8994 2842  

Passcode: 955382  

Alternatively, the meeting may be accessed by telephone at: 

1-312-626-6799, If prompted for the following items, please enter:

Meeting ID: 858 8994 2842, followed by the # symbol

Password: 955382, followed by the # symbol

PUBLIC HEARING  

Wednesday, April 10, 2024 

5:30 p.m.  

A. ORDINANCE NO. 678, BUDGET AND APPROPRIATION ORDINANCE

The Public Hearing is to discuss and receive public comments on the Budget and

Appropriation Ordinance for FY25. A Notice of Public Hearing was published in The News-

Gazette on March 30, 2024.

B. PUBLIC COMMENTS

C. CLOSE THE PUBLIC HEARING

REGULAR MEETING 

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC: (Comments must be limited to not more than three (3) minutes.)

C. COMMUNICATIONS

D. TREASURER’S REPORT

1. Consideration of Acceptance of the Treasurer’s Report for the Month of March 2024.

Link

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85889942842?pwd=TWdrNXUxS3NpbURPdmgrd2xpMHBVUT09


Regular Board Meeting 
April 10, 2024 
Page 2 

The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through    
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

E. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT

F. COMMITTEE AND LIAISON REPORTS

1. Champaign Parks Foundation

G. REPORT OF OFFICERS

1. Attorney’s Report
2. President’s Report

H. CONSENT AGENDA
All items appearing below are considered routine by the Board and shall be enacted by one
motion. If discussion is desired, that item shall be removed and discussed separately.

1. Approval of Minutes of the Special Board Meeting, March 27, 2024.
2. Approval of Minutes of the Executive Session, March 27, 2024.
3. Approval of a Resolution Establishing Authority for the Executive Director to Execute

Change Orders.
4. Approval of Bid for General Fencing Repair.
5. Approval of a Resolution Ratifying Change Order #1 for the Douglass Park Ballfields and

Concessions Project.

I. NEW BUSINESS

1. Approval of Disbursements
Staff recommends approval of disbursements for the period beginning March 14, 2024, and
ending April 10, 2024. (Roll Call Vote)

2. Approval of Ordinance No. 678: Budget and Appropriation Ordinance
Staff recommends adoption of Ordinance No. 678, the Budget and Appropriation Ordinance
for FY25 in the amount of $26,983,229. (Roll Call Vote)

3. Approval of FYE2025 Budget Book
Staff recommends the Board approve the FYE2025 budget book.

4. Approval of Agreement wtih Consolidated Communications for Douglass Park Concessions
Fiber Internet Pull
Staff recommends approval of the proposal from Consolidated Communications, in the
amount of $33,489.78 and requests the Board to authorize the Executive Director to enter
into a contractual agreement for this work.

J. DISCUSSION ITEMS

1. Projects Update – 4th Quarter

K. COMMENTS FROM COMMISSIONERS

L. ADJOURN

Link

Link
Link

Link

Link

Link

Link

Link



CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT 
MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING 
BOARD OF PARK COMMISSIONERS 

 
March 27, 2024 

 
The Champaign Park District Board of Commissioners held a Special Board Meeting on 
Wednesday, March 27, 2024, which commenced at 5:30 p.m. at the Bresnan Meeting Center, 706 
Kenwood Road, Champaign, Illinois, pursuant to published notice duly given. Vice President 
Timothy P. McMahon presided over the meeting. 
 

Present in-person: Vice President Timothy P. McMahon, Commissioners Jane L. Solon and 
Michael R. Somers, Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director, Jarrod Scheunemann, Secretary and 
Deputy Executive Director, Attorney Guy C. Hall, and Treasurer Donna Lawson. 
 
Excused absence with prior notice duly given: President Craig W. Hays and Commissioner 
Barbara J. Kuhl. 
 
Staff present in-person: Chelsea Norton, Director of Marketing and Development, Dan Olson, 
Director of Operations, Jeannie Robinson, Director of Recreation, Jimmy Gleason, Director of 
Facilities and Technology, Heather Miller, Director of Human Resources, Steven Bentz, Director of 
the Virginia Theatre, Cynthia Mattingly, Interim Director of Finance, Andy Heaton, Grounds 
Specialist, Josh Hughes Patton, Grounds Worker II, Joe Kearfott, Assistant Director of Facilities 
and Technology, Miguel Gaona, Grounds Specialist – Arbor, and Ryan Musgrove – Grounds 
Worker. 
 
Rachel Voss and several other family members and friends of the distinguished service awardees 
were also in attendance. 
 
Call to Order 
Vice President McMahon called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. 
 
Presentation 
 

1. Distinguished Service Award – Andy Heaton, Josh Patton, Miguel Gaona, and Ryan 
Musgrove.   

 
Mr. Olson highlighted the heroic efforts of Andy Heaton, Josh Hughes-Patton, Miguel Gaona, and 
Ryan Musgrove. These staff members went above and beyond the call of duty by aiding a fellow 
motorist who had experienced a vehicular accident and medical emergency. Vice President 
McMahon and the Commissioners applauded their exceptional care and concern for the residents 
they serve and thanked them for their efforts. Commissioner McMahon presented Andy Heaton, 
Josh Hughes-Patton, Miguel Gaona, and Ryan Musgrove with the Park District’s highest staff 
honor, the distinguished service award. 
 
Comments from the Public 
None. 
 
Communications 
Vice President McMahon circulated the communications for review. 
 
 



 
Minutes of the March 27, 2024 Special Board Meeting 

Page 2 

Treasurer’s Report 
Treasurer Lawson presented the report. She stated the Park District’s finances had been reviewed 
and were found to be in appropriate order and noted several CD’s are available for renewal.  
 
Commissioner Solon made a motion to accept the Treasurer’s Report for the month of February 
2024. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Somers. The motion passed 3-0. 
 
Executive Director’s Report 
Ms. Sandquist shared highlights from the upcoming Park District schedule including: the Martin 
Luther King Jr. Peace Walk on April 4th, dance art’s production of Snow White at the Virginia 
Theatre on April 5th and 6th, Champaign Urbana Special Recreation (CUSR) theatre’s performance 
of Cinderella on April 6th, the CUSR awards banquet on April 23rd, and the Illinois Association of 
Park District’s (IAPD) Legislative Conference on May 7th and 8th.  
 
Committee and Liaison Reports 
 
Champaign Parks Foundation 
Mr. Scheunemann reported that the Foundation has exceeded last year’s sponsorship total for the 
Ties and Tennies gala. Ms. Sandquist reminded the Board that any silent auction basket donations 
are due by April 1st.  
 
Report of Officers 
 
Attorney’s Report 
Attorney Hall reported that he has been working on several matters for the Park District, including 
real estate transactions, easements, and numerous agreements. 
 
President’s Report 
None. 
 
Consent Agenda  
 
Vice President McMahon stated that all items on the Consent Agenda are considered routine and 
shall be acted upon by one motion and if discussion is desired, that item shall be removed and 
discussed separately. 
 

1. Approval of Minutes of the Special Board Meeting, February 28, 2024. 
2. Approval of Executive Session Minutes, February 28, 2024. 
3. Approval of Bid for Playground Surfacing 

 
Commissioner Somers made a motion to approve the consent agenda as presented. The motion 
was seconded by Commissioner Solon. The motion passed 3-0.   
 
New Business 
 

1. Approval of Disbursements  
Staff recommended approval of disbursements for the period beginning February 15, 2024, and 
ending March 13, 2024.  
 
Commissioner Solon made a motion to approve the list of disbursements for the period beginning 
February 15, 2024, and ending March 13, 2024. The motion was seconded by Commissioner 



 
Minutes of the March 27, 2024 Special Board Meeting 

Page 3 

Somers. Upon roll call, the vote was as follows: Commissioner Solon -  yes; Commissioner Somers 
– yes; and Vice President McMahon – yes. The motion passed 3-0.  
   

2. Approval of Professional Services Agreement with GHR Engineering and Associates for the 
Fly System Rigging at the Virginia Theatre 

Mr. Bentz reported that the fly system computer has exceeded its normal life expectancy. The 
vendor who developed the system is no longer in operation, which complicates replacement and 
requires engineering expertise to ensure a new fly system is appropriate and functional.  
 
Discussion and clarification ensued regarding the age of the current system, the overall project 
cost, and the availability of grants to support the project. Mr. Bentz responded that the current 
system is eleven years old, the current estimate for replacing the fly system is $750,000, and the 
Park District has been anticipating the Illinois Department of Natural Resources Museum grant 
program may reopen to support similar projects in the future.  
 
Commissioner Solon made a motion to approve accepting the proposal from GHR Engineers & 
Associates, Inc., of Champaign, IL, in the amount of $54,000.00 to provide design and construction 
administration services for the Virginia Theatre rigging control system upgrade and authorize the 
Executive Director to enter into the provided AIA agreement subject to final review from legal 
counsel. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Somers and unanimously approved.  

 
3. Approval of Bid for Concessions at Sholem Aquatic Center and Dodds Park Sports 

Complex. 
Mr. Gleason reported that staff recommend approval of a License Agreement with JMB Industries, 
Inc. to use Sholem Aquatic Center for the purpose of concessions food and beverage. 
 
Commissioner Solon requested clarification about service for other concessions areas. Mr. 
Gleason responded that JMB Industries and Travelin’ Toms food and beverage trucks will be on 
location to serve at other Park District concession locations.  
 
Commissioner Solon made a motion to approve a License Agreement with JMB Industries, Inc. to 
use Sholem Aquatic Center for the purpose of concessions food and beverage. The motion was 
seconded by Somers. The motion passed 3-0.   
 

4. Approval of Purchase of Lighting Console for the Virginia Theatre  
Mr. Bentz reported that staff recommends approval of accepting bid and authorize the Executive 
Director to purchase ETC ION APEX 20 Lighting Console and Peripherals for the Virginia Theatre 
from the low, responsible bidder, Full Compass Systems, Inc., Madison, WI, in the amount of 
$78,782.00.  
 
Vice President McMahon requested more information about the age of the system. Mr. Bentz 
responded that the system is thirteen (13) years old and it has exceeded its normal life expectancy. 
 
Commissioner Somers made a motion to approve the bid to purchase ETC ION APEX 20 Lighting 
Console and Peripherals for the Virginia Theatre from the low, responsible bidder, Full Compass 
Systems, Inc., Madison, WI, in the amount of $78,782.00 and authorize the Executive Director to 
enter into the agreement. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Solon. The motion passed 
3-0.   
 

5. Approval of Location Partner Agreement with Tivity Health Services, LLC (Silver Sneakers) 
Mr. Gleason reported that the Park District’s agreement with the Silver Sneakers program began in 
2016. Staff investigated an amendment to the agreement after recent resident requests for 



 
Minutes of the March 27, 2024 Special Board Meeting 

Page 4 

expansion of the service. Currently, the Park District serves 320 members. The new agreement 
increases the per visit cost from $2.00 to $3.00 per visit and a cap increase from $20.00 to $30.00 
per month. 
Commissioner Solon made a motion to approve an amendment to the agreement with Tivity Health 
Services, LLC to add the Martens Center and Sholem Aquatics Center and an increased rate to 
$3.00 per visit and an increased cap of $30.00 per month. The motion was seconded by 
Commissioner Somers and was unanimously approved. 
 

6. Approval of Bid for West Side Park Mobility Upgrades 
Mr. Olson presented this ADA project to their Board for its consideration. He noted that this work 
will fix cracked pathway panels, add ADA picnic, and trash receptacle spaces, and improve 
circulation through the expansion of pathway intersections.  
 
Discussion ensued regarding the limited available space to widen the pathway at West Side Park 
and this project’s priority of increasing access and improving circulation within the limitations.  
 
Commissioner Solon verified that staff had engaged with the resident who gave public comment 
regarding the need for this project. 
 
Commissioner Solon made a motion to award the contract to lowest bidder A + A Concrete of 
Urbana IL for $97,475.00 and authorize the Executive Director to enter into the contract. The 
motion was seconded by Commissioner Somers. The motion passed unanimously. 
 

7. Approval of Bid for Spalding Skate Park Safety Netting 
Mr. Olson reported that this project will address errant foul balls that may otherwise land outside of 
the Spalding Park baseball field.  
 
Discussion ensued regarding the lifespan and warranty of the netting. 
 
Commissioner Solon made a motion to accept the low, responsible bid and authorize the Executive 
Director to enter into a contract with Midwest Netting Solutions for the purchase and installation of 
the safety netting for a total of $76,505.33. Commissioner Somers seconded the motion, and it was 
unanimously approved. 
 

8. Approval of Bid for the Construction of the Henry Michael Park Shelter 
Mr. Olson presented the report. Neighbors of the park requested the shelter. ADA 
accommodations will be implemented in addition to completing the shelter.  
 
Commissioner Somers made a motion to approve utilizing capital project and ADA funding to 
undertake the project; accepting the low, responsible bid and authorize the Executive Director to 
enter into a contract with Concrete, Inc. for the Henry Michael Park Shelter project for a total of  
$31,795.61. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Solon. The motion passed 3-0. 
 
Discussion Items 
 

1. FY25 Annual Operating Budget 
Staff presented the latest draft of the budget book and each division highlighted respective 
achievements, future goals, and variances in comparison to the FY24 budget.  
 
Discussion ensued regarding the approval process, an update about marketing’s forecasted FY25 
budget as compared to the comprehensive FY24 marketing budget total, the availability of gift 



 
Minutes of the March 27, 2024 Special Board Meeting 

Page 5 

certificates for Virginia Theatre tickets, the merger of senior programs, and a new special event 
and its potential locations, among a number of matters. 
 
 

2. Champaign Parks Foundation – 3rd Quarter Financial Update  
Staff presented packet materials for the Champaign Parks Foundation 3rd Quarter Financial 
Update. No further discussion ensued. 
 

3. Champaign Park District – 3rd Quarter Financial Update 
Staff presented packet materials for the Champaign Park District 3rd Quarter Financial Update. No 
further discussion ensued. 
 
Comments from Commissioners 
Commissioner Solon shared her appreciation for the format of the budget presentations. Vice 
President McMahon concurred. Commissioner Solon commented that she had received input from 
residents that have noticed improvements in the CUSR programs and services, and she thanked 
staff for their related efforts.  
 
Vice President McMahon commented about the budget format and ease of navigation of the online 
software.  
 
Executive Session 
Commissioner Solon moved pursuant to the basis set forth below to convene into Executive 
Session. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Somers and unanimously approved. The 
Board convened into Executive Session under the Illinois Open Meetings Act, specifically 5 ILCS 
120/2 (c)(1) The appointment, employment, compensation, discipline, performance, or dismissal of 
specific employees, specific individuals who serve as independent contractors in a park, 
recreational, or educational setting, or specific volunteers of the public body or legal counsel for the 
public body, including hearing testimony on a complaint lodged against an employee, a specific 
individual who serves as an independent contractor in a park, recreational, or educational setting, 
or a volunteer of the public body or against legal counsel for the public body to determine its 
validity. 
 
Return to Regular Meeting 
Following the adjournment of the Executive Session, the Board reconvened in an open meeting. 
 
Adjourn 
There being no further business to come before the Board, Commissioner Solon made a motion to 
adjourn the meeting. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Somers. The motion passed 3-0 
and the meeting was adjourned at 7:15 p.m.  
 
Approved: 
 
 
_____________________________________ __________________________________ 
Timothy P. McMahon, Vice President  Jarrod Scheunemann, Secretary 
 
 



 
Champaign Park District 

 
RESOLUTION 

                   
WHEREAS, the Champaign Park District is a municipal corporation located in 

Champaign County, Illinois, and is a park district organized and operating pursuant to the 
provisions of the Park District Code (70 ILCS 1205/1-1 et seq.); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of the Champaign Park District has approved 
various capital projects;   

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of the Champaign Park District award 

contracts for specific projects to the lowest responsible bidder;   
 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of the Champaign Park District has determined 
that the Executive Director may, from time to time, execute contracts and all related documents 
including change orders, amendments and/or time extensions; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of the Champaign Park District has decided to 
clarify and grant authority to the Executive Director to execute contracts including change orders 
on behalf of the Champaign Park District related to specific projects approved by the Board;  
 

NOW, THERFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Commissioners of the 
Champaign Park District hereby authorizes the Executive Director to execute all contracts 
including change orders, amendments, and/or time extensions as they relate to specific 
projects. The Executive Director shall obtain a written determination that one or more of the 
following exists: (1) the circumstances necessitating the change in performance were not 
reasonably foreseeable at the time the contract was signed, or (2) the change is germane to the 
original contract as signed, or (3) the change is in the best interests of the Champaign Park 
District and authorized by law. Such contractual obligation shall not exceed $25,000; and 
provided further that, the Board of Commissioners shall be informed of the nature and extent of 
all such contracts in the manner and form that it deems necessary and appropriate within its 
sole discretion, and shall confirm, approve and ratify at its next regular board meeting any and 
all change orders or series of change orders which increase or decrease any such contract 
amount by a total $10,000 or more or the time of completion by a total of 30 days or more, 
effective until April 9, 2025.  
 
 APPROVED by the President and Board of Commissioners of the Champaign Park 
District this 10th day of April 2024. 
 
 

(SEAL) 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:  APPROVED: 
 
 
 
By: ___________________________________ By: ________________________________ 
      ___________________________, Secretary  Craig W. Hays, President 

 
 



The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through 
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
REPORT TO PARK BOARD 
 
FROM: Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director 
 
DATE:  April 10, 2024  
 
SUBJECT:  General Fencing Repair Bid 
 
Background 
The Champaign Park District (Park District) requested bids for general fencing repairs at various 
locations, including: Centennial, Dodds, and Zahnd parks. The work generally consists of replacing 
heavily damaged mesh, poles, posts, and necessary hardware.        
 
Bid Results 
An invitation to bid was published in The News-Gazette. Four (4) bid packets were received.  Bids were 
opened and read aloud on March 28, 2024. The bid results are as follows: 
 

Bidder Total Bid Amount 
SK Exteriors  $60,737.00 

ATS Custom Construction  $77,445.00 

Main Street Construction  $85,994.00 

Tiles in Styles, LLC $108,746.69 
 
Budget Impact 
$23,225.00 of the original $35,000.00 that was budgeted in the FY23/24 Capital budget for general 
fencing repairs remains available. 
  
$30,000.00 was budgeted in the FY24/25 Capital budget for general fencing repairs.  
 
The remaining $7,512.00 needed to complete the entire project will come from FY24/25 contingency 
monies.  
      
Prior Board Action 
The Park Board approved the FY23/24 Capital budget at the January 11, 2023 Regular Board meeting. 
 
The Park Board approved the FY24/25 Capital budget at the December 13, 2023 Regular Board 
meeting. 
 
Staff Recommendation 
Staff recommends awarding this bid to the lowest bidder that meets all required specifications, SK 
Exteriors, at the total bid amount of $60,737.00 and requests the Board to authorize the Executive 
Director to enter into a contractual agreement for this work. 
 
Prepared by:          Reviewed by:             Reviewed by:    
Tommy Buhr          Bret Johnson                                     Dan Olson 
Grounds Supervisor             Asst. Dir. of Operations & Planning        Director of Operations & Planning 



CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT 
Agreement 

This Agreement is made and entered into effective this 11th day of April, 2024, by and between the Champaign Park 
District, a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as, "Park District"), whose principal address is 706 Kenwood 
Road, Champaign, Illinois, and SK Exteriors., hereinafter referred to as, "Contractor", whose principal address is 305 
Tiffany Ct. Champaign, IL 61822 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, Park District and Contractor desire to enter into an agreement whereby Contractor will provide services to 
Park District at designated locations as hereafter set forth.  

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and agreements herein set forth, 
Park District and Contractor agree as follows:   

1. Services.  The Contractor agrees to provide all materials, supplies, and equipment and to perform all labor
required to complete the Fence Repairs at Centennial, Dodds and Zahnd Parks, as described in and in
accordance with the provisions of the proposal which include, but are not limited to: information to vendors,
specifications, request for bids, contractor’s bids and this construction contract, including any change orders
agreed to hereinafter.

2. Time of Performance.  The work to be performed under this contract shall be commenced by Monday, April
15, 2024 and shall be entirely completed by June 30, 2024, unless prevented by adverse weather conditions
and other circumstances approved in writing by the Park District.  The work period may be extended at the
sole discretion of the Park District as provided for herein.

3. Compensation for Services.  Park District shall pay the Contractor for the services provided for the sum of
$60,737, payable on the 20th day of the month following total completion of all said work and approval and
acceptance by owner which shall not be unreasonably withheld. All billing must be received by the Park
District by the first Friday of the month in order to be paid in the same month. The Park District shall make
installments as bills are received based on the work completed, with such payments to be paid no later than
the 20th day of month following submission of the bills.

4. Hold Harmless and Indemnification.  The Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Park
District and any of its commissioners, officers, employees, agents, volunteers, and representatives from and
against any and all liability, loss, costs, causes of actions, demands, attorney’s fees, expenses, claims, suits
and judgments of whatsoever kind and character, including without limitation, all possible costs of responding
to demands, in whatever form that may take, with respect to any claim made against the Park District that
arises solely from an act, failure or omission on the part of the Contractor or any of its directors, officers,
employees, agents and representatives in carrying out of the terms of this Agreement.

5. Insurance.  The Contractor shall keep in full force and effect at all times during this Agreement a
comprehensive general liability insurance policy, with contractual liability coverage, with minimum limits of not
less than $2,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 annual aggregate together with property damage
insurance of not less than $2,000,000. All insurance carriers providing the coverage set forth herein shall have
a rating of A as assigned by A.M. Best and Co. and shall be reasonably satisfactory to Park District. All
insurance coverage provided by the Contractor shall be primary insurance as to Park District. Any insurance or
self-insurance maintained by Park District shall be in excess of the Contractor’s insurance and shall not
contribute with it. The Park District, its commissioners, officers, employees, agents, representatives, and
volunteers shall be covered as additional insureds under the general liability coverage which shall contain no
special limitation on the scope of protection afforded to the additional insured's, and shall contain appropriate
extensions or riders necessary to assure coverage. The policy shall not be cancelled or amended without at
least ten (10) days prior written notice having been given to the Park District. Cancellation of any such
coverage without a substitute policy containing the required coverage's being put in force, shall be grounds for
the Park District to immediately terminate this Agreement with no further rights afforded to the Contractor.  At
its option, Park District may continue such insurance at its cost and obtain reimbursement and repayment
thereof from the Contractor.  In such event, the Contractor shall pay the amount due within ten (10) days of



- 2 -

payment by Park District. The Parties acknowledge that the Contractor may from time to time change insurers; 
provided that, the Park District shall be provided with a certificate of such insurance otherwise conforming to 
and in compliance with the terms hereof, promptly upon such change. 

The Contractor shall provide a certificate of such insurance as may be applicable from time to time, listed 
below, at the time Agreement is signed and annually thereafter. Note that all limits of liability for insurance 
shall be not less than the following amounts, and must be greater where required by other laws or regulations 
and must be insured on an "occurrence" basis and not on a "claims made" basis: 

i. Workers' Compensation:
             State Statutory

• Applicable Federal Statutory
ii.  Comprehensive General Liability:

• Bodily Injury (including completed operation and products liability) and Property 
Damage:$2,000,000 Each Occurrence, $2,000,000 Annual Aggregate or a combined 
single limit of$2,000,000

• Property damage liability insurance will provide Explosion, Collapse and Underground 
coverages where applicable.

• Contractual Liability (Hold Harmless Coverage): Bodily Injury: $2,000,000  
• Each Occurrence Property Damage:  $2,000,000 
• Each Occurrence $2,000,000 Annual Aggregate  

iii. Comprehensive Automobile Liability:
• Bodily Injury: $2,000 ,000 Each Person and $2,000,000 Each Occurrence
• Property Damage: $500,000 Each Occurrence or combined single limit of $500,000

6. Independent Contractor. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the relationship between
Park District and the Contractor is, and shall remain, one of independent contractors.  Nothing in this
Agreement shall be construed to establish a relationship of employer/employee, partners or joint venturers
between the Parties.  In addition, the Contractor may from time-to-time hire person(s) to perform labor and
other services for it, and any such person(s) shall not be construed to be an employee of or contractor with the
Park District in any manner whatsoever.  Furthermore, the Contractor does hereby acknowledge its obligations
and shall remain responsible for the payment of all withholdings, insurance or other amounts as may be
required by law in connection with its hiring or contracting with any such person(s), and shall in all respects
hold Park District harmless from and indemnify it for the payment of any such amounts.

7. Default.  The Park District may terminate this Agreement in the event of a default or breach.  A default or
breach shall be deemed to occur when any of the services are not provided as required and in the manner and
at the times provided for in the specifications referred to in this Agreement.  In the event of breach or
termination, the Contractor shall be responsible to pay Park District for the reasonable costs incurred by Park
District in obtaining replacement services.

8. Laws and Venue.  The parties agree that the laws governing this Agreement shall be the laws of the State of
Illinois.  The parties further agree that in the event of any claim or lawsuit regarding this Agreement,
Champaign County, Illinois shall be the appropriate venue for such claim or suit.

9. Severability.  In any event one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall be determined by
a Court to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such provision shall be deemed severed from this
Agreement, and the validity, legality, or enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement or any
other application thereof shall not be affected or impaired thereby, and shall, therefore remain in effect.

10. Compliance with Laws.  Contractor shall comply with all laws, statutes, ordinances and regulations
applicable to the work to be performed, including, without limitation, the Illinois Prevailing Wage Act, Illinois
Fair Employment Practices Act, all equal employment opportunity laws, all affirmative action ordinances and
all other state, federal, or local laws or regulations applicable to the performance of this contract. In this
connection, Contractor guarantees that not less than the prevailing rate of wages shall be paid to laborers,
workers and mechanics performing work required to complete this contract. Further, Contractor acknowledges
that, except in certain situations permitted by law, Illinois-resident laborers will be used for the work.



- 3 -

11. Assignment.  Neither party, nor any subsidiary, successor, partner, employee, agent or affiliate shall assign
or delegate any of their rights or responsibilities under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the
other, which shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Any assignee or sub-contractor must be acceptable to the
Park District, must furnish a signed Champaign Park District "Commitment to engage in Affirmative Action
Practices" form, and must agree to comply with all statutory requirements pertaining to Illinois prevailing
wages, the Illinois Fair Employment Act, Equal Opportunity laws and all other State and Federal laws and
regulations applicable to the performance of this Agreement.

12. Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence in the performance and completion of the terms of this
Agreement.  

13. Waiver.  Failure to insist upon strict compliance with any of the terms, covenants or conditions of this
Agreement, shall not be deemed a waiver of the term, covenant or condition, nor shall any waiver or
relinquishment of any right or power at any one time or times be deemed a waiver or relinquishment of the
right or power at all or any other times.

14. Counterparts.  This Agreement shall be executed in duplicate, each of which shall be deemed to be an
original. 

15. Notice.  All notices required pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing, and shall be deemed to have been
given on the date and at the time they are sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the respective
party at the address set forth below, or at such other place or address as the parties shall provide to each
other in writing.  In addition, any such notice shall be sent by first class regular U.S. Mail.

Champaign Park District SK Exteriors 
Attention:  Sarah Sandquist Attention: Jordan Hollern 
Executive Director 
706 Kenwood Road 305 Tiffany Ct. 
Champaign, IL  61821        Champaign, IL 61822 

16. Entire Agreement and Amendment.  This Agreement and any terms or specifications attached hereto or
otherwise referred to herein constitute the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the subject
matter hereof and supersede all prior or contemporaneous agreements and understandings either oral or
written of the parties in connection herewith.  No modification of this Agreement shall be effective unless made
in writing, signed by both parties and dated after the date hereof.

17. Term. This Agreement shall be in effect upon execution, provided this Agreement may be terminated at any
time without notice upon the express written consent of both Parties or for default as provided for herein.

18. Interpretation of Agreement. In interpreting this Agreement, each of the Parties expressly agrees that the
Agreement was prepared by all of the Parties jointly, and that no ambiguities shall be resolved against any
Party on the basis that it was responsible, or primarily responsible for having drafted the Agreement.  In 
addition, each of the Parties acknowledges that it did not execute this Agreement under duress, and was 
represented by legal counsel in connection with the preparation of this Agreement or chose not to engage the 
services of such counsel.  Further, whenever the context so requires: (a) all words used in the singular shall be 
construed to have been used in the plural (and vice versa); (b) each gender shall be construed to include the 
other gender; (c) the word “person” shall be construed to include a natural person, corporation, limited liability 
company or partnership, firm, joint venture, trust, estate, or any other entity, and (d) the words “and” as well as 
“or” shall be construed either disjunctively or conjunctively as necessary to bring within the scope of any 
provision of this Agreement any person, right, obligation or concept which might otherwise be construed to be 
outside the scope of such provision. 

19. Authority to Execute Agreement. Each person or entity executing this Agreement represents that he/she/it
is authorized to execute the Agreement.  Each person executing this Agreement on behalf of any entity
represents that he or she is authorized to execute this Agreement on behalf of such entity.



- 4 -

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement to be executed effective as of the day and year first 
above written.  

PARK DISTRICT: CONTRACTOR:  

Champaign Park District  SK Exteriors 

By: __________________________________ By: ________________________________ 

It’s: _________________________________ 

Date: _________________________________ Date: ________________________________ 



The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through 
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
REPORT TO PARK BOARD 
 
FROM: Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director 
 
DATE:  April 10, 2024 
 
SUBJECT:  Ratification of Douglass Park Improvements Contract – Change Order #1    
 
Background 
Construction on the Douglass Park improvements is underway. This Change Order is based on 
items required by the City of Champaign, based on their plan review of the project. 
  
Items include: lowering of the sanitary line, additional signage, faucet change, additional insulation, 
heaters, door hardware, and building permits. 
         
Prior Board Action 
December 14, 2022, Regular Board Meeting – The Park Board approved the Douglass Park 
concession and baseball project, contingent upon receipt of a $300,000 anonymous donation.   
 
January 11, 2023, Regular Board Meeting – The Park Board approved the capital improvement 
plan for FYE 24. 
 
June 14, 2023, Regular Board Meeting – The Park Board approved the subrecipient agreement 
with the City of Champaign for the acceptance of grant funds in the amount of $400,000.   
 
June 14, 2023, Regular Board Meeting - The Park Board approved the professional services 
agreement with Architectural Expressions in the amount of $68,859.  
 
January 10, 2024, Regular Board Meeting – The Park Board approved Dodds Company’s bid for 
construction in the amount of $1,097,617.  
   
Budget Impact 
Dodds Company’s original contract amount was $1,097,617. Change Order #001 added $17,068, 
making the total $1,114,685.  
 
Recommended Action 
Staff recommends approval of a resolution ratifying Change Order #1 to the Dodds Company 
construction contract for the Douglass Park improvements.   
 
 
Prepared by:       Reviewed by:  
    
Bret Johnson                              Dan Olson     
Assistant Director of Operations & Planning               Director of Operations & Planning  
  



 

RESOLUTION 
 

CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 

Douglass Park Improvements Construction Contract Change Order 1  
 

WHEREAS, the Champaign Park District is a municipal corporation located in Champaign 
County, Illinois, and is a park district organized and operating pursuant to the provisions of the Park 
District Code (70 ILCS 1205/1-1 et seq.); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Champaign Park District annually considers and approves a capital budget 
for each fiscal year commencing May 1 and ending April 30 for various projects; and 
 

WHEREAS, Champaign Park District entered into a construction contract with Dodds Company 
for the renovation and new construction at Douglass Park; and  

 
WHEREAS, Champaign Park District representatives, Architectural Expressions, and Dodds 

Company determined that the additional amounts associated with Change Order 1 are $17,068; and 
 
WHEREAS, Change Order 1 to the Construction Contract is germane to the original contract as 

signed, and such change is in the best interests of the Champaign Park District and authorized by law; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of the Champaign 
Park District as follows:  

 
Change Order 1 to the Douglass Park improvements construction contract is germane to the original 
contract; and that in order to proceed in the best interests of the Champaign Park District; and as authorized 
by law and pursuant to the terms of the award, contract, and documents incorporated therein, staff and 
officials of the Champaign Park District are authorized to approve, ratify, and execute such change order 
as is reasonably necessary as otherwise described herein to conform and amend the awarded contract to 
undertake the actions necessary in order to complete the project as directed by the Board of 
Commissioners. Accordingly, the Change Order 1 and any actions or costs referenced therein or 
associated therewith are hereby approved, authorized, ratified, and confirmed for the sum set forth as 
follows:  

Change Order 1 – Additional amounts for building permits, lowering of the sanitary line, additional 
signage, faucet change, additional insulation, heaters, and door hardware.  See attached Change 
Order. 

 
 Total Change Order (this resolution) ……………………………$17,068.00 
 

APPROVED, AUTHORIZED, and RATIFIED by the President and Board of Commissioners of 
the Champaign Park District this 10th day of April, 2024. 
 
(SEAL)        APPROVED 
 
 
 
 
____________________________    ____________________________ 
Jarrod Scheunemann, Secretary    Craig W. Hays, President 













































The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through positive 
experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 
 

 
 

REPORT TO PARK BOARD 
 
FROM:         Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director 
 
DATE: April 10, 2024 
 
SUBJECT: Approval of Ordinance No. 678 Budget and Appropriation Ordinance for 

FYE2025         
 
Background 
 
Each year, the Board of Commissioners of the Champaign Park District adopts a Budget and 
Appropriation Ordinance. On February 28, 2024, the proposed budget, totaling $27,094,932 for 
Revenues and $24,862,452 for Expenses, was formally presented to the Board. This allocation 
anticipates a proposed net excess of $2,232,480 for the fiscal year 2025. Furthermore, in 
compliance with legal mandates, an appropriation amount of $26,983,229 has been presented, with 
no subsequent revisions made. 
 
Prior Board Action 
Initial FY25 Budget was presented to Park Board of Commissioners on February 28, 2024, with 
Public Hearing set for April 10, 2024.  
 
Budget Impact 
The proposed budget and appropriations Ordinance No. 678 for fiscal year beginning May 1, 2024, 
and ending April 30, 2025, for the Champaign Park District sets total budgeted expenditures / 
transfers in the amount of $24,862,452, and the legal appropriation as $26,983,229. 
 
Recommended Action 
Staff recommends the Board approve Ordinance No. 678 Budget and Appropriation Ordinance for 
fiscal year beginning May 1, 2024, and ending April 30, 2025, and file with the Champaign County 
Clerk’s office. 
 
Prepared by: Reviewed by:  
 
 
 
Todd W. Blazaitis Sarah Sandquist, CPRE 
Budget Manager Executive Director  





����������	��
� �
��
�����
������������������������������
��������
���
���������
���
�������
����������
����������

 !!"#���$$$�%&$#'()*&!!&�+,-�+.)##/0/&1#�+,--2%/!3�)%%,2%+&-&%!#�.&().�+ )-")/(%'")45'1/#!4/+!'%,!/+&',0'"26./+' &)4/%(',%')%%2).'621(&!')%1')� ���

789:;9<=>;9?@�A<BC?<7C>DC<7E�DF�;GHI<7�8E9?<>=�D>�9>>G9I�HGA=EC�9>A�9;;?D;?<9C<D>�D?A<>9>7E>DJ�KLM�DF�C8E�789:;9<=>�;9?@�A<BC?<7C���������������������N���O���! )!�! &�!&%!)!/P&��,-6/%&1�
%%2).��21(&!�)%1
""4,"4/)!/,%��41/%)%+&�,0�� )-")/(%��)45��/#!4/+!�0,4�0/#+).�3&)4�6&(/%%/%(��)3�����Q���)%1&%1/%(�
"4/.�RQ���Q�	�/#�)P)/.)6.&�)%1� )#�6&&%�)P)/.)6.&�0,4�"26./+�/%#"&+!/,%�)!�! &�,00/+&�,0�#)/1�)45��/#!4/+!��SQT��&%$,,1��,)1��� )-")/(%���../%,/#�#/%+&��&642)43��U���Q����,!/+&�/#�024! &4�(/P&%�! )!�)�"26./+� &)4/%(�,%�#)/1�"4,",#&1��,-6/%&1��21(&!�)%1
""4,"4/)!/,%��41/%)%+&�$/..�6&� &.1�)!�#)/1�,00/+&�,0�#)/1��)45��/#!4/+!��SQT��&%$,,1��,)1�� )-")/(%���../%,/#�,%VWXYWZX[\]�9̂ _̀a�bc]�dcde�[f�ghic�̂JjJk
������������
���&+4&!)43� )-")/(%��)45��/#!4/+!�QS�RSQ�R�RQ



Ordinance #678 
BUDGET AND APPROPRIATION ORDINANCE 

For the Year Ended 2025 
AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE COMBINED ANNUAL BUDGET AND APPROPRIATION 

OF FUNDS FOR THE CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT, CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING ON THE FIRST (1st) DAY OF MAY 2024, AND 

ENDING ON THE THIRTIETH DAY (30th) OF APRIL 2025 
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF PARK COMMISSIONERS OF THE CHAMPAIGN 
PARK DISTRICT, CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS: 
 
SECTION 1. It is hereby found and determined: 
 
(a) This Board has heretofore caused to be prepared a combined Annual Budget and 
Appropriation in tentative form, which Ordinance will be conveniently available for public 
inspection for at least 30 days prior to final action thereon; and 
 
(b) A public hearing will be held at the Bresnan Meeting Center, 706 Kenwood Road, 
Champaign, Illinois, on the 10th day of April 2024 on said Ordinance, notice of said 
hearing having been given by publication in the Champaign News Gazette, being a 
newspaper published within the District at least one week prior to such hearing; and 
 
(c) That all other legal requirements for the adoption of the Annual Budget and 
Appropriation of this Park District for the fiscal year beginning May 1, 2024 and ending 
April 30, 2025 have heretofore been performed. 
 
Section 2. The following sums of money, or so much thereof as may be authorized by law for 
the following objects and purposes, be and the same are hereby budgeted and appropriated for 
the fiscal year beginning the first (1st) day of May 2024 and ending the thirtieth (30th) day of April 
2025. 
 
Each of said sums of money and the aggregate thereof are deemed necessary by this Board to 
defray the necessary expenses and liabilities of this District during the fiscal year beginning May 
1, 2024 and ending April 30, 2025 for the respective purposes set forth. 
 
All unexpended balances of the appropriations for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2024 and prior 
years are hereby specifically re-appropriated for the same general purposes for which they were 
originally made and may be expended in making up any insufficiency of any other items 
provided in this appropriation ordinance, in making this appropriated, shall constitute the general 
corporate fund and shall first be placed to credit of such fund. 
 
Section 3. The following determinations have been made and are hereby made a part of the 
aforesaid budget: 
 
 An estimate of the cash on hand at the beginning of the fiscal year is expected to be 
$42,203,286. 
 
An estimate of the cash expected to be received during the fiscal year from all sources is 
$27,094,932. 
 
An estimate of the expenditures and transfers contemplated for the fiscal year is $24,862,452. 



Ordinance #678 
BUDGET AND APPROPRIATION ORDINANCE 

For the Year Ended 2024 
AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE COMBINED ANNUAL BUDGET AND APPROPRIATION 

OF FUNDS FOR THE CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT, CHAMPAIGN COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING ON THE FIRST (1st) DAY OF MAY 2024, AND 

ENDING ON THE THIRTIETH DAY (30th) OF APRIL 2025 
 
 
Section 4. The receipts and revenues of the Champaign Park District derived from sources 
other than taxation and not specifically appropriated, and all unexpended balances from the 
preceding fiscal year not required for the purposes for which they were appropriated and levied, 
shall constitute the General Corporate Fund and shall first be placed to credit of such fund. 
 
Section 5. All ordinances or parts of ordinances conflicting with any of the provisions of this 
ordinance be, and the same, are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. If any item or 
portion thereof of this budget and appropriation ordinance is for any reason held invalid, such 
decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portion of such items or the remaining 
portion of this ordinance. 
 
Section 6. This ordinance shall be full force and effective immediately upon its passage.  
 
Passed this 10th day of April 2024. 
 
AYES: 
NAYS: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 
 
[SEAL] 
 
CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT 
 
By 
 
______________________________ 
Craig Hays, Board President 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Jarrod Scheunemann, Board Secretary 

 

 

 



Ordinance No. 678 

Budget & Appropriations Totals by Fund 

May 1,2024 through April 30, 2025    

 
2024-2025 

Fund Budget Appropriations    

1  $    6,565,727   $        7,033,669  

2        4,418,871             4,785,817  

3        2,627,385             2,797,855  

4           590,711                649,782  

6           150,000                180,000  

8             40,000                  44,000  

9           248,175                262,603  

12           121,908                137,034  

14           600,000                690,000  

15        2,180,016             2,397,992  

16        3,481,517             3,829,669  

19           100,000                115,000  

21        1,373,661             1,511,027  

22        1,929,481             2,070,281  

25           435,000                478,500     

 
 $  24,862,452   $      26,983,229     

   

Ordinance No. 678 

Budget & Appropriations Totals by Fund 

May 1,2024 through April 30, 2025    

 
2024-2025 

Account Budget Appropriations    

Fund 01 - GENERAL 
  

Salaries and Wages 
  

70201 Full-Time Salaries and Wages        2,825,727             3,027,118  

70202 Part-Time Seasonal Wages           433,390                464,278  

Salaries and Wages        3,259,117             3,491,396     

Fringe Benefits 
  

53132 Dental Insurance              14,000                  14,998  

53133 Medical Health Insurance            335,000                358,876  



53134 Life Insurance                6,000                     6,428  

53137 Employee Assistance Program                      -                             -    

83003 Allowances/Reimbursements              35,260                  37,773  

Fringe Benefits            390,260                418,075     

Contractual 
  

54201 Postage and Mailing                3,250                    3,482  

54202 Printing and Duplicating              26,000                  27,853  

54204 Staff Meetings                1,550                    1,660  

54205 Legal Publications/Notices                3,500                    3,749  

54206 Advertising/Publicity            100,000                107,127  

54207 Staff Training              26,000                  27,853  

54208 Memberships, Dues and Fees              26,000                  27,853  

54209 Conference and Travel              31,800                  34,066  

54210 Board Expense                5,000                    5,356  

54212 Attorney Fees            150,000                160,691  

54214 Architect and Engineering Fees              50,000                  53,564  

54215 Professional Fees              67,500                  72,311  

54234 Landfill Fees              34,000                  36,423  

54236 Auto Allowance                      -                             -    

54240 Office Equipment Repairs                      -                             -    

54241 Vehicle Repair              15,500                  16,605  

54242 Equipment Repair              18,950                  20,301  

54245 Building Repair              11,500                  12,320  

54250 Equipment Rental              11,800                  12,641  

54253 Pest Control                1,100                    1,178  

54254 Service Contracts              45,800                  49,064  

54255 License and Fees              76,600                  82,059  

54260 Service Contracts-Facilities                7,350                    7,874  

54261 Service Contracts-Grounds              55,000                  58,920  

54263 Contractual Mowing            200,000                214,254  

54264 Cell Phone Expense                3,200                    3,428  

54265 Subscriptions                1,300                    1,393  

54270 Personnel Costs              65,000                  69,633  

54275 Health and Wellness                 4,000                    4,285  

54280 Other Contractual Services             195,150                209,058  

54282 Intern Stipend                      -                             -    

54291 Park and Recreation Excellence                2,500                    2,678  

59412 Property/Sales Tax                   300                        321  

59414 Credit Card Fees                   400                        427  

Contractual        1,240,050              1,328,427     



Commodities/Supplies 
  

55301 Office Supplies                5,550                    5,946  

55302 Envelopes and Stationery                1,000                    1,071  

55303 Duplicating Supplies                1,250                    1,339  

55304 Checks and Bank Supplies                1,200                    1,286  

55305 Photographic Supplies                   750                       803  

55307 Books and Manuscripts                   400                       429  

55308 First Aid/Medical Supplies                5,000                    5,356  

55309 Safety Supplies                9,000                    9,641  

55315 Staff Uniforms              31,800                  34,066  

55316 Participant Uniforms                   500                       536  

55320 Building Maintenance Supplies              29,250                  31,335  

55321 Landscape Supplies              30,500                  32,674  

55322 Cleaning /Janitorial Supplies                7,500                    8,035  

55323 Playground Maintenance Supplies                6,000                    6,428  

55324 Prescribed Burn Supplies                1,000                    1,071  

55325 Equipment and Tools              20,750                  22,229  

55326 Shop Equipment and Supplies                6,000                    6,428  

55327 Vehicle/Equipment Repair Parts              28,500                  30,531  

55328 Amenity Maintenance Supplies              10,000                  10,713  

55329 Office/ Equipment Value <$10000              20,000                  21,425  

55330 Gas, Fuel, Grease and Oil              95,100                101,878  

55331 Chemicals              13,250                  14,194  

55332 Paints                1,250                    1,339  

55333 Plant Materials            128,000                137,123  

55348 Flowers and Cards                1,800                    1,928  

55349 Plaques, Awards and Prizes                4,250                    4,553  

55350 Recreation/Program Supplies              12,500                  13,391  

55352 Fish Restocking                4,000                    4,285  

55354 Food Supplies              15,500                  16,605  

Commodities/Supplies            491,600                526,637     

Utilities 
  

56230 Sanitary Fees and Charges                5,300                    5,678  

56231 Gas and Electricity              71,000                  76,060  

56232 Water            121,200                129,838  

56233 Telecomm Expenditures              37,200                  39,851  

Utilities            234,700                251,427     

Routine/Periodic Maintenance 
  

58001 Periodic Maintenance                5,000                    5,356  

58002 Routine Maintenance            245,000                262,461  



Routine/Periodic 
  

Maintenance            250,000               267,818     

Transfers to Other Funds 
  

59409 Transfers to Other Funds            700,000               749,889     

Appropriations - Fund 01         6,565,727            7,033,669     

   

Fund 02 - RECREATION 
  

Salaries and Wages 
  

70201 Full-Time Salaries and Wages           961,705             1,041,566  

70202 Part-Time Seasonal Wages        1,501,132             1,625,787  

Salaries and Wages        2,462,837             2,667,353    
                         -    

Fringe Benefits 
 

                         -    

53132 Dental Insurance                5,500                    5,957  

53133 Medical Health Insurance            145,000                157,041  

53134 Life Insurance                2,500                    2,708  

53137 Employee Assistance Program                      -                             -    

83003 Allowances/Reimbursements              16,000                  17,329  

Fringe Benefits            169,000                183,035     

Contractual 
  

54201 Postage and Mailing Expense                   250                       271  

54202 Printing and Duplicating                      -                            -    

54204 Staff Meetings                   100                       108  

54206 Advertising/Publicity                   200                       217  

54207 Staff Training              16,900                  18,303  

54208 Memberships, Dues and Fees              31,030                  33,607  

54209 Conference and Travel              14,491                  15,694  

54234 Landfill Fees                8,000                    8,664  

54236 Auto Allowance                   500                       542  

54241 Vehicle Repair                8,500                    9,206  

54242 Equipment Repair              19,600                  21,228  

54245 Building Repair              48,650                  52,690  

54250 Equipment Rental                7,460                    8,079  

54251 Rental Facilities                5,000                    5,415  

54253 Pest Control                5,000                    5,415  

54254 Service Contracts              17,300                  18,737  

54255 License and Fees                9,650                  10,451  

54260 Service Contracts-Facilities            137,540                148,961  



54261 Service Contracts-Grounds              20,500                  22,202  

54264 Cell Phone Expense                2,600                    2,816  

54265 Subscriptions                      -                             -    

54270 Personnel Costs              67,500                  73,105  

54271 Petty Cash                      -                             -    

54280 Other Contractual Services                3,270                    3,542  

54281 Contractual Personnel              36,393                  39,415  

54282 Intern Stipend                      -                             -    

54285 Contractual Entertainment                   500                       542  

54299 Field/Special Trips              37,790                  40,928  

59412 Property/Sales Tax              11,600                  12,563  

59414 Credit Card Fees              46,250                  50,091  

Contractual            556,574                602,792    
                         -    

Commodities/Supplies 
 

                         -    

55301 Office Supplies                7,430                    8,047  

55303 Duplicating Supplies                3,200                    3,466  

55307 Books and Manuscripts                1,000                    1,083  

55308 First Aid Supplies                2,500                    2,708  

55315 Staff Uniforms              22,985                  24,894  

55316 Participant Uniforms              30,800                  33,358  

55320 Building Maintenance Supplies              60,597                  65,629  

55321 Landscape Supplies              13,000                  14,080  

55322 Cleaning /janitorial Supplies              28,100                  30,433  

55325 Equipment and Tools                2,000                    2,166  

55327 Vehicle/equip Repair Parts                2,750                    2,978  

55329 Office/ Equipment Value <$10000                      -                             -    

55330 Fuel Purchases                9,250                  10,018  

55331 Chemicals              78,500                  85,019  

55332 Paint              15,000                  16,246  

55333 Plant Materials                2,500                     2,708  

55348 Flowers and Cards                1,000                     1,083  

55349 Plaques, Awards and Prizes              12,344                  13,369  

55350 Recreation/program Supplies            106,805                115,674  

55353 Innovation Center Supplies                2,000                    2,166  

55354 Food Supplies              35,749                  38,718  

55360 Merchandise for Resale              56,031                  60,684  

Commodities/Supplies            493,541                534,527    
                         -    

Utilities 
 

                         -    

56230 Sanitary Fees and Charges              33,474                  36,254  

56231 Gas and Electricity            392,612                425,215  



56232 Water            165,733                179,496  

56233 Telecomm Expenditures              37,800                  40,939  

Utilities            629,619                681,904    
                         -    

Routine/Periodic Maintenance 
 

                         -    

58001 Periodic Maintenance              17,300                  18,737  

58002 Routine Maintenance              30,000                  32,491  

Routine/Periodic Maintenance              47,300                  51,228     

Transfers to Other Funds              60,000                  64,978     

Appropriations - Fund 02        4,418,871             4,785,817     

   

Fund 03 - MUSEUM 
  

Salaries and Wages 
  

70201 Full-Time Salaries and Wages            608,429                647,905  

70202 Part-Time Seasonal Wages            538,260                573,183  

Salaries and Wages        1,146,689             1,221,088    
                         -    

Fringe Benefits 
 

                         -    

53132 Dental Insurance                3,500                    3,727  

53133 Medical Health Insurance              90,000                  95,839  

53134 Life Insurance                1,500                    1,597  

53137 Employee Assistance Program                      -                             -    

83003 Allowances/Reimbursements                8,500                    9,051  

Fringe Benefits            103,500                110,215    
                         -    

Contractual 
 

                         -    

54201 Postage and Mailing                1,450                    1,544  

54202 Printing and Duplicating                1,500                    1,597  

54205 Legal Publications/Notices                   100                       106  

54206 Advertising/Publicity              47,500                  50,582  

54207 Staff Training                      -                             -    

54208 Memberships, Dues and Fees                4,000                    4,260  

54209 Conference and Travel              10,171                  10,831  

54215 Professional Fees                1,500                    1,597  

54234 Landfill Fees              11,400                  12,140  

54241 Vehicle Repair                   500                       532  

54242 Equipment Repair              10,718                  11,413  

54245 Building Repair              17,000                  18,103  

54250 Equipment Rental              60,120                  64,021  



54251 Rental Facilities              25,500                  27,154  

54253 Pest Control                1,750                    1,864  

54254 Service Contracts                7,200                    7,667  

54255 License and Fees              20,240                  21,553  

54260 Service Contracts-Facilities              69,806                  74,335  

54265 Subscriptions                      -                             -    

54270 Personnel Costs              27,500                  29,284  

54280 Other Contractual Services              83,500                  88,918  

54281 Contractual Personnel              77,099                  82,101  

54285 Contractual Entertainment            392,200                417,647  

54299 Field/special Trips                3,000                    3,195  

59412 Property/sales Tax              11,000                  11,714  

59414 Credit Card Fees              79,526                  84,686  

Contractual            964,280             1,026,844    
                         -    

Commodities/Supplies 
 

                         -    

55301 Office Supplies                2,550                     2,715  

55302 Envelopes and Stationery                   500                        532  

55303 Duplicating Supplies                    900                        958  

55305 Photographic Supplies                      -                             -    

55307 Books and Manuscripts                   880                        937  

55308 First Aid/Medical Supplies                   600                        639  

55315 Staff Uniforms                1,455                     1,549  

55316 Participant Uniforms                2,317                     2,467  

55320 Building Maintenance Supplies              18,000                   19,168  

55322 Cleaning /Janitorial Supplies                7,870                     8,381  

55327 Vehicle/Equipment Repair Parts                2,000                     2,130  

55329 Office/ Equipment Value <$10000                3,000                     3,195  

55330 Gas, Fuel, Grease and Oil                4,000                     4,260  

55349 Plaques, Awards and Prizes              16,284                   17,341  

55350 Recreation/Program Supplies              70,829                   75,425  

55351 Animal Supplies                2,500                     2,662  

55354 Food Supplies              55,350                   58,941  

55355 Animal Feed                2,500                     2,662  

55360 Merchandise for Resale              35,667                   37,981  

Commodities/Supplies            227,202                 241,943    
                         -    

Utilities 
 

                         -    

56230 Sanitary Fees and Charges                2,569                    2,736  

56231 Gas and Electricity            124,595                132,679  

56232 Water              14,300                  15,228  

56233 Telecomm Expenditures              19,250                  20,499  



Utilities            160,714                171,141    
                         -    

Routine/Periodic Maintenance 
 

                         -    

58001 Periodic Maintenance              10,000                  10,649    
                         -    

Transfers to Other Funds              15,000                  15,975    
                         -    

Appropriations - Fund 03        2,627,385             2,797,855     

   

Fund 04 - LIABILITY INSURANCE 
  

Salaries and Wages 
  

70201 Full-Time Salaries and Wages              63,371                  69,708     

Fringe Benefits 
  

53132 Dental Insurance                   500                        550  

53133 Medical Health Insurance              12,000                   13,200  

53134 Life Insurance                   250                        275  

83003 Allowances/Reimbursements                   840                        924  

Fringe Benefits              13,590                   14,949     

Contractual 
  

54207 Staff Training                      -    
 

54209 Conference and Travel                   750                        825  

54255 License and Fees                2,000                     2,200  

54270 Personnel Costs                   500                        550  

Contractual                3,250                     3,575     

Commodities/Supplies 
  

55306 CPR Books and Supplies (Tort Fund)              10,000                   11,000  

55307 Books and Manuscripts                   100                        110  

55329 Office/ Equipment Value <$10000                3,000                     3,300  

Commodities/Supplies              13,100                   14,410     

Insurance 
  

57131 Workers Compensation              95,000                104,500  

57137 Unemployment Premium                2,500                    2,750  

57220 Liability Insurance              35,000                  38,500  

57222 Employment Practices              13,000                  14,300  

57224 Property Insurance              75,000                  82,500  

Insurance            220,500                242,550     



Capital Outlay 
  

61515 Repair Projects and Equipment            276,900                304,590     

Appropriations - Fund 04            590,711                649,782     

   

Fund 06 - IMRF FUND 
  

Fringe Benefits 
  

53135 IMRF Payments            150,000                180,000     

Appropriations - Fund 06            150,000                180,000     

   

Fund 08 - AUDIT FUND 
  

   

Fringe Benefits 
  

54217 Audit Expenses              40,000                  44,000     

Appropriations - Fund 08              40,000                  44,000     

   

Fund 09 - PAVING AND LIGHTING FUND 
  

Routine/Periodic Maintenance 
  

58002 Routine Maintenance            155,200                164,223   
    

 

Capital Outlay 
  

61508 Park Construction/Improvements              92,975                  98,380     

Appropriations - Fund 09            248,175                262,603     

   

Fund 12 - SPECIAL DONATIONS FUND 
  

   

Contractual 
  

54292 Scholarships            115,000                129,269  

59415 Transfer to Parks Foundation-Restricted                6,908                    7,765     

Appropriations - Fund 12            121,908                137,034     

   

Fund 14 - SOCIAL SECURITY FUND 
  

Fringe Benefits 
  



53136 FICA Payments            600,000                690,000     

Appropriations - Fund 14            600,000                690,000     

   

Fund 15 - SPECIAL RECREATION FUND 
  

Salaries and Wages 
  

70201 Full-Time Salaries and Wages            210,717                231,786  

70202 Part-Time Seasonal Wages            275,454                302,996  

70204 Inclusion Assistant 50% ADA              37,000                  40,700  

Salaries and Wages            523,171                575,482     

Fringe Benefits 
  

53132 Dental Insurance                1,500                    1,650  

53133 Medical Health Insurance              35,000                  38,500  

53134 Life Insurance                1,000                    1,100  

53135 IMRF Payments              10,000                  11,000  

53136 FICA Payments              60,000                  65,999  

53137 Employee Assistance Program                      -                             -    

83003 Allowances/Reimbursements                3,500                    3,850  

Fringe Benefits            111,000                122,099     

Contractual 
  

54201 Postage and Mailing                1,000                     1,100  

54202 Printing and Duplicating                      -                             -    

54204 Staff Meeting                      -                             -    

54205 Legal Publications and Notices                      -                             -    

54206 Advertising/publicity                      -                             -    

54207 Staff Training                2,000                     2,200  

54208 Memberships, Dues and Fees                1,000                     1,100  

54209 Conference and Travel                1,340                     1,474  

54236 Auto Allowance                      -                             -    

54241 Vehicle Repair                8,000                     8,800  

54245 Building Repair                1,560                     1,716  

54250 Equipment Rental                   525                        577  

54251 Rental Facilities                8,164                     8,980  

54253 Pest Control                   500                        550  

54254 Service Contracts                3,500                     3,850  

54260 Service Contracts-facilities              36,520                   40,172  

54264 Cell Phone Expense                   350                        385  

54270 Personnel Costs              17,000                   18,700  

54281 Contractual Personnel                2,500                     2,750  



54282 Intern Stipends                1,400                     1,540  

54285 Contractual Entertainment                      -                             -    

54299 Field/special Trips              53,055                   58,360  

59414 Credit Card Fees                2,200                     2,420  

Contractual            140,614                 154,674     

Commodities/Supplies 
  

55301 Office Supplies                1,560                     1,716  

55302 Envelopes and Stationery                   400                        440  

55303 Duplicating Supplies                   350                        385  

55315 Staff Uniforms                3,935                     4,328  

55316 Participant Uniforms                2,176                     2,394  

55320 Building Maintenance Supplies                2,080                     2,288  

55322 Cleaning /janitorial Supplies                3,700                     4,070  

55327 Vehicle/equipment Repair Parts                2,100                     2,310  

55329 Office/ Equipment Value <$10000                   900                        990  

55330 Gas, fuel, grease and Oil                5,000                     5,500  

55348 Flowers and Cards                     50                          55  

55349 Plaques, Awards and Prizes                6,675                     7,342  

55350 Recreation/program Supplies              18,577                   20,434  

55354 Food Supplies              20,990                   23,089  

Commodities/Supplies              68,493                   75,341     

Utilities 
  

56230 Sanitary Fees and Charges                   416                       458  

56231 Gas and Electricity              16,000                  17,600  

56232 Water                1,560                    1,716  

56233 Telecomm Expenditures                7,500                    8,250  

Utilities              25,476                  28,024     

Insurance 
  

57131 Workers Compensation                2,000                     2,200  

57220 Liability Insurance                1,500                     1,650  

57222 Employment Practices                   500                        550  

57224 Property Insurance                3,000                     3,300  

Insurance                7,000                     7,700     

Routine/Periodic Maintenance 
  

58002 Routine Maintenance              15,000                  16,500  

58003 ADA Non-Capital Expenditures              58,000                  63,799  

Routine/Periodic Maintenance              73,000                  80,299     



Capital Outlay 
  

61508 CPD - ADA            797,000                876,691  

61509 UPD Capital ADA            409,262                450,183  

Capital Outlay        1,206,262             1,326,874     

Transfers to Other Funds              25,000                  27,499     

Appropriations - Fund 15        2,180,016             2,397,992     

   

Fund 16 - CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUND 
  

Capital Outlay 
  

61508 Park Construction/Improvements         3,456,517             3,802,169  

61515 Repair Projects and Equipment              25,000                  27,500     

Appropriations - Fund 16        3,481,517             3,829,669     

   

Fund 19 - POLICE PROTECTION 
  

Contractual 
  

54281 Contractual Personnel            100,000                115,000     

Appropriations - Fund 19            100,000                115,000     

   

Fund 21 - BOND AMORTIZATION FUND 
  

   

Transfer To Other Funds 
  

59409 Transfers to Other Funds        1,373,661             1,511,027     

Appropriations - Fund 21        1,373,661             1,511,027     

   

Fund 22 - BOND PROCEEDS FUND 
  

Contractual 
  

54215 Professional Fees                5,950                    6,384     

Capital Outlay 
  

61504 Vehicles / Equipment            688,453                738,691  

61508 Park Construction/Improvements            637,491                684,011     

Debt Service Principal 
  



59405 Bond Redemption            525,000                563,311     

Debt Service Interest/Fees 
  

59407 Interest Expenditure              72,587                  77,884     

Appropriations - Fund 22        1,929,481             2,070,281     

   

Fund 25 - PARK DEVELOPMENT FUND 
  

Capital Outlay 
  

61508 Park Construction/Improvements             435,000                478,500     

Appropriations - Fund 25            435,000                478,500  

 



I, Donna Lawson, do hereby certify that I am the duly qualified Treasurer of the Champaign Park
District. As such, I do further certify that the revenues, by source, anticipated to be received by the
Park District in the fiscal year beginning May 1, 2024 and ending on April 30, 2025 are estimated to
be as follows:

ESTIMATE OF REVENUE

Source of Revenue Amount
Property Taxes 16,694,000 
Personal Property Replacement Tax 525,000 
Charges for Services 3,921,924 
Contributions & Sponsorships 723,788 
Concessions & Merchandise 257,591 
Grants 638,500 
Interest 2,000,000 
Bond Proceeds (Reflected as a Transfer) 1,373,661 
Special Receipts/Other 160,468 
Transfer to Other Funds 800,000 

Total Estimate of Revenue 27,094,932 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of the Champaign 
Park District this 10th  day of April, 2024.

SEAL

CERTIFICATION OF ESTIMATE OF REVENUE
FISCAL YEAR 2025

__________________________________________
Donna Lawson, Treasurer



The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through positive 
experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
REPORT TO PARK BOARD 
 
FROM:         Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director 
 
DATE: April 10, 2024 
 
SUBJECT: Approval of FYE2025 Budget Book 
 
        
Background 
The formal FYE2025 budget book is presented to the Board for approval prior to submitting it to the 
Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) for the distinguished budget award, due within 
90 days of adoption of the budget and appropriations ordinance. The totals reflected in the formal 
budget book are reflective of the Budget and Appropriation Ordinance No. 678 for FYE2025 as 
revised and approved on April 10, 2024. This document meets the criteria of the GFOA budget 
award program and this will be the document submitted for consideration this year. The Park 
District first applied and received this award in FY2005 and has received it annually since then. 
 
Prior Board Action 
On February 28, 2024, the Board set a date for the public hearing on the budget and appropriation 
ordinance. Ordinance No. 678: Budget and Appropriation Ordinance for FYE2025 was presented 
for approval at the April 10, 2024 meeting and will be filed with the Champaign County Clerk by July 
31, 2024 as required. 
 
Budget Impact 
The Champaign Park District sets total expenditures/transfers in the amount of $24,862,452 for the 
period beginning May 1, 2024 through April 30, 2025. 
 
Recommended Action 
Staff recommends the Board approve the FYE2025 budget book. 
 
 
 
Prepared by: Reviewed by:  
 
 
 
Todd W. Blazaitis Sarah Sandquist, CPRE 
Budget Manager Executive Director  



The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through 
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
REPORT TO PARK BOARD 
 
FROM: Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director 
 
DATE:  April 10, 2024 
 
SUBJECT:  Douglass Park Concession Fiber Installation    
 
Background 
Staff requested a proposal from Consolidated Communications for the installation of a fiber optic 
cable for the new concession and restroom facility. This structured cabling is essential for 
electronic door locking devices, security cameras, internet, and Wi-Fi access. The fiber line will be 
connected to the Park District’s network in the mechanical room at the Douglass Community 
Center and directionally bored across the park to the location of the new building. 
 
Consolidated Communications has successfully performed several other structural cabling projects 
for the Park District in the past. This technology-based work would be an exception to the Park 
District’s formal bidding process.          
     
Prior Board Action 
December 14, 2022, Regular Board Meeting – The Park Board approved the Douglass Park 
concession and baseball project, contingent upon receipt of a $300,000 anonymous donation.   
 
January 11, 2023, Regular Board Meeting – The Park Board approved the Capital improvement 
plan for FYE 24. 
 
June 14, 2023, Regular Board Meeting – The Park Board approved the subrecipient agreement 
with the City of Champaign for the acceptance of grant funds in the amount of $400,000.   
 
June 14, 2023, Regular Board Meeting - The Park Board approved the professional services 
agreement with Architectural Expressions in the amount of $68,859.  
 
January 10, 2024, Regular Board Meeting – The Park Board approved Dodds Company’s bid for 
construction in the amount of $1,097,617.  
   
Bid Results 
N/A                                          
 
Budget Impact 
$1,100,000 was budgeted in the FYE 24 Capital Improvement Plan (project # 240017) for 
improvements at Douglass Park. 
 
Architectural Expressions’ original contract amount up to bidding (does not include any 
construction admin) was $68,859. 
  



The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through 
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 
 

Per the terms of the City of Champaign’s agreement, the Park District must contribute $400,000 
before being reimbursed for the $400,000 subrecipient grant funding. 
   
An anonymous donation was received in 2022 in the amount of $300,000. An additional $200,000 
from the same donor was received in December of 2023. 
 
CPD:    $400,000 
City of Champaign:  $400,000 
2022 Donation:  $300,000 
2023 Donation:           $200,000 
Total:    $1,300,000 
 
Expenses to-date 
AEX Contract:    $68,859 
Dodds Company Contract:   $1,097,617 
Change Order #1 (City changes):  $17,068 
Total:      $1,183,544 
 
Remaining allotted funds after fiber expense: $82,966 
 
Recommended Action 
Staff recommends approval of the proposal from Consolidated Communications, in the amount of 
$33,489.78 and requests the Board to authorize the Executive Director to enter into a contractual 
agreement for this work. 
 
 
Prepared by:       Reviewed by:  
    
Bret Johnson                              Jimmy Gleason    
Assistant Director of Operations & Planning               Director of Facilities & Technology  
  



Structured Cabling Proposal For 
3/6/2024

Champaign Park District
Douglas Park Concessions Fiber 

Quantity

Data Cabling - Fiber Optic

12 Fiber OS2 250um Plenum Indoor/Outdoor Armored Fiber Optic Cable 0.8 K ft.

Data Cabling - Fiber Optic Accessories

OS2 1F 900UM PC LC TO PIGTAIL STD. IL, SET OF 12 - 1M 2 ea.

Opticom® Rack Mount Fiber Enclosure, Black, 1 RU, 3 Ports 2 ea.

Opticom® FAP, OS2, 6 LC Duplex, Blue 2 ea.

Fiber Optic Splice Module 24 Fusion For Rack Mount Enclosure 2 ea.

Misc

Boring 1.5" Pipe 1 Lot

Consumables 1 Lot

Sales Tax Not Included



Task 02:  Provide labor and material to install (2) fiber enclosers and (2) fiber trays.

Task 03:  Ground armored fiber.

Task 04:  Provide labor and material to core entrance into community building for fiber.

Customer Notes:
Customer to provide exact location of mid-point hand hole prior to boring.

Task 01:  Provide labor and material to install 12 strand OS2 armored fiber optic cable from new 
consessions stand to basement of community center.  Terminate on both ends. Leave 60' of cable 
in midpoint hand hole.

Structured Cabling Project Tasks



· This quotation is valid for 20 days from the date of issue due to supplier(s) limitations. $33,489.78 Regular
Labor
Rate

This bid prepared by: Joshua Meyer RCDD & Kye Petersen
Office:217.258.2986 v Kye.Petersen@consolidated.com

Consolidated Communications v 1300 S Neil v Champaign, IL 61820 

One-year parts and labor warranty from date of installation. 

Sales Tax Not Included

· All access control control doors to be programed and tested to customer's specifications.

· Pathway infrastructure is assumed to be in place and usable unless project requires a new pathway infrastructure 
and is called out in a task.

· All camera views to be adjusted to customer's preference.

· Tall structures requiring the use of mechanical lifts shall incur extra charges.

Exclusions / Comments / Caveats

· All quality and craftsmanship shall meet and/or exceed all local and state regulations and codes.
· Work completed from within containment cubes when ceilings outside of designated construction areas are 
accessed.

· This bid is based upon tasks listed above. Any material or task additions/deletions   must have owner's written 
approval (email) and will be adjusted through a change order.

· All work to be done during normal business hours of 7:00 am to 3:30 pm Monday through Friday, unless otherwise 
specified.

Quote Accepted by: _____________________________________________  Date: __________________

· Cancellation of this signed proposal prior to the start of the installation will result in a 25% restocking fee of all 
materials.

· This quotation is valid for 7 days from the date of issue for all copper cabling due to supplier(s) 
limitations.



CHAMPAIGN PARK DISTRICT 
Agreement 

 

This Agreement is made and entered into effective this 11th day of April, 2024, by and between the Champaign Park 
District, a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as, "Park District"), whose principal address is 706 Kenwood 
Road, Champaign, Illinois, and Consolidated Communications, hereinafter referred to as, "Contractor", whose principal 
address is 1300 S. Neil St., Champaign, IL 61820 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, Park District and Contractor desire to enter into an agreement whereby Contractor will provide services to 
Park District at designated locations as hereafter set forth.  

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and agreements herein set forth, 
Park District and Contractor agree as follows:   
 

1. Services.  The Contractor agrees to provide all materials, supplies, and equipment and to perform all labor 
required to complete the Structural Cabling for the Douglass Park Concession Fiber Optic, as described 
in and in accordance with the provisions of the proposal which include, but are not limited to: information to 
vendors, specifications, request for bids, contractor’s bids and this construction contract, including any change 
orders agreed to hereinafter.                    

2. Time of Performance.  The work to be performed under this contract shall be commenced by Monday, April 
15, 2024 and shall be entirely completed by July 31, 2024, unless prevented by adverse weather conditions 
and other circumstances approved in writing by the Park District.  The work period may be extended at the 
sole discretion of the Park District as provided for herein.  

3. Compensation for Services.  Park District shall pay the Contractor for the services provided for the sum of 
$33,489.78.50, payable on the 20th day of the month following total completion of all said work and approval 
and acceptance by owner which shall not be unreasonably withheld. All billing must be received by the Park 
District by the first Friday of the month in order to be paid in the same month. The Park District shall make 
installments as bills are received based on the work completed, with such payments to be paid no later than 
the 20th day of month following submission of the bills.   

4. Hold Harmless and Indemnification.  The Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Park 
District and any of its commissioners, officers, employees, agents, volunteers, and representatives from and 
against any and all liability, loss, costs, causes of actions, demands, attorney’s fees, expenses, claims, suits 
and judgments of whatsoever kind and character, including without limitation, all possible costs of responding 
to demands, in whatever form that may take, with respect to any claim made against the Park District that 
arises solely from an act, failure or omission on the part of the Contractor or any of its directors, officers, 
employees, agents and representatives in carrying out of the terms of this Agreement. 

5. Insurance.  The Contractor shall keep in full force and effect at all times during this Agreement a 
comprehensive general liability insurance policy, with contractual liability coverage, with minimum limits of not 
less than $2,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 annual aggregate together with property damage 
insurance of not less than $2,000,000. All insurance carriers providing the coverage set forth herein shall have 
a rating of A as assigned by A.M. Best and Co. and shall be reasonably satisfactory to Park District. All 
insurance coverage provided by the Contractor shall be primary insurance as to Park District. Any insurance or 
self-insurance maintained by Park District shall be in excess of the Contractor’s insurance and shall not 
contribute with it. The Park District, its commissioners, officers, employees, agents, representatives, and 
volunteers shall be covered as additional insureds under the general liability coverage which shall contain no 
special limitation on the scope of protection afforded to the additional insured's, and shall contain appropriate 
extensions or riders necessary to assure coverage. The policy shall not be cancelled or amended without at 
least ten (10) days prior written notice having been given to the Park District. Cancellation of any such 
coverage without a substitute policy containing the required coverage's being put in force, shall be grounds for 
the Park District to immediately terminate this Agreement with no further rights afforded to the Contractor.  At 
its option, Park District may continue such insurance at its cost and obtain reimbursement and repayment 
thereof from the Contractor.  In such event, the Contractor shall pay the amount due within ten (10) days of 



- 2 - 

payment by Park District. The Parties acknowledge that the Contractor may from time to time change insurers; 
provided that, the Park District shall be provided with a certificate of such insurance otherwise conforming to 
and in compliance with the terms hereof, promptly upon such change. 

The Contractor shall provide a certificate of such insurance as may be applicable from time to time, listed 
below, at the time Agreement is signed and annually thereafter. Note that all limits of liability for insurance 
shall be not less than the following amounts, and must be greater where required by other laws or regulations 
and must be insured on an "occurrence" basis and not on a "claims made" basis: 

 
i. Workers' Compensation: 

• State Statutory 

• Applicable Federal Statutory 
ii. Comprehensive General Liability: 

• Bodily Injury (including completed operation and products liability) and Property Damage: 
$2,000,000 Each Occurrence, $2,000,000 Annual Aggregate or a combined single limit of 
$2,000,000 

• Property damage liability insurance will provide Explosion, Collapse and Underground 
coverages where applicable. 

• Contractual Liability (Hold Harmless Coverage): Bodily Injury: $2,000,000   

• Each Occurrence Property Damage:  $2,000,000 

• Each Occurrence $2,000,000 Annual Aggregate  
iii. Comprehensive Automobile Liability: 

• Bodily Injury: $2,000 ,000 Each Person and $2,000,000 Each Occurrence 

• Property Damage: $500,000 Each Occurrence or combined single limit of $500,000 

6. Independent Contractor. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the relationship between 
Park District and the Contractor is, and shall remain, one of independent contractors.  Nothing in this 
Agreement shall be construed to establish a relationship of employer/employee, partners or joint venturers 
between the Parties.  In addition, the Contractor may from time-to-time hire person(s) to perform labor and 
other services for it, and any such person(s) shall not be construed to be an employee of or contractor with the 
Park District in any manner whatsoever.  Furthermore, the Contractor does hereby acknowledge its obligations 
and shall remain responsible for the payment of all withholdings, insurance or other amounts as may be 
required by law in connection with its hiring or contracting with any such person(s), and shall in all respects 
hold Park District harmless from and indemnify it for the payment of any such amounts. 

7. Default.  The Park District may terminate this Agreement in the event of a default or breach.  A default or 
breach shall be deemed to occur when any of the services are not provided as required and in the manner and 
at the times provided for in the specifications referred to in this Agreement.  In the event of breach or 
termination, the Contractor shall be responsible to pay Park District for the reasonable costs incurred by Park 
District in obtaining replacement services. 

8. Laws and Venue.  The parties agree that the laws governing this Agreement shall be the laws of the State of 
Illinois.  The parties further agree that in the event of any claim or lawsuit regarding this Agreement, 
Champaign County, Illinois shall be the appropriate venue for such claim or suit.   

9. Severability.  In any event one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall be determined by 
a Court to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such provision shall be deemed severed from this 
Agreement, and the validity, legality, or enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement or any 
other application thereof shall not be affected or impaired thereby, and shall, therefore remain in effect. 

10. Compliance with Laws.  Contractor shall comply with all laws, statutes, ordinances and regulations 
applicable to the work to be performed, including, without limitation, the Illinois Prevailing Wage Act, Illinois 
Fair Employment Practices Act, all equal employment opportunity laws, all affirmative action ordinances and 
all other state, federal, or local laws or regulations applicable to the performance of this contract. In this 
connection, Contractor guarantees that not less than the prevailing rate of wages shall be paid to laborers, 
workers and mechanics performing work required to complete this contract. Further, Contractor acknowledges 
that, except in certain situations permitted by law, Illinois-resident laborers will be used for the work.  



- 3 - 

11. Assignment.  Neither party, nor any subsidiary, successor, partner, employee, agent or affiliate shall assign 
or delegate any of their rights or responsibilities under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the 
other, which shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Any assignee or sub-contractor must be acceptable to the 
Park District, must furnish a signed Champaign Park District "Commitment to engage in Affirmative Action 
Practices" form, and must agree to comply with all statutory requirements pertaining to Illinois prevailing 
wages, the Illinois Fair Employment Act, Equal Opportunity laws and all other State and Federal laws and 
regulations applicable to the performance of this Agreement.  

12. Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence in the performance and completion of the terms of this 
Agreement.   

13. Waiver.  Failure to insist upon strict compliance with any of the terms, covenants or conditions of this 
Agreement, shall not be deemed a waiver of the term, covenant or condition, nor shall any waiver or 
relinquishment of any right or power at any one time or times be deemed a waiver or relinquishment of the 
right or power at all or any other times.  

14. Counterparts.  This Agreement shall be executed in duplicate, each of which shall be deemed to be an 
original.  

15. Notice.  All notices required pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing, and shall be deemed to have been 
given on the date and at the time they are sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the respective 
party at the address set forth below, or at such other place or address as the parties shall provide to each 
other in writing.  In addition, any such notice shall be sent by first class regular U.S. Mail.  

             Champaign Park District   Consolidated Communications 
Attention:  Sarah Sandquist               Attention: Kye Petersen 
Executive Director    Account Executive 
706 Kenwood Road    1300 S. Neil St.  
Champaign, IL  61821                                        Champaign, IL  61820 

16.       Entire Agreement and Amendment.  This Agreement and any terms or specifications attached hereto or 
otherwise referred to herein constitute the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the subject 
matter hereof and supersede all prior or contemporaneous agreements and understandings either oral or 
written of the parties in connection herewith.  No modification of this Agreement shall be effective unless made 
in writing, signed by both parties and dated after the date hereof.  

17.       Term. This Agreement shall be in effect upon execution, provided this Agreement may be terminated at any 
time without notice upon the express written consent of both Parties or for default as provided for herein. 

18.       Interpretation of Agreement. In interpreting this Agreement, each of the Parties expressly agrees that the 
Agreement was prepared by all of the Parties jointly, and that no ambiguities shall be resolved against any 
Party on the basis that it was responsible, or primarily responsible for having drafted the Agreement.  In 
addition, each of the Parties acknowledges that it did not execute this Agreement under duress, and was 
represented by legal counsel in connection with the preparation of this Agreement or chose not to engage the 
services of such counsel.  Further, whenever the context so requires: (a) all words used in the singular shall be 
construed to have been used in the plural (and vice versa); (b) each gender shall be construed to include the 
other gender; (c) the word “person” shall be construed to include a natural person, corporation, limited liability 
company or partnership, firm, joint venture, trust, estate, or any other entity, and (d) the words “and” as well as 
“or” shall be construed either disjunctively or conjunctively as necessary to bring within the scope of any 
provision of this Agreement any person, right, obligation or concept which might otherwise be construed to be 
outside the scope of such provision. 

19.        Authority to Execute Agreement. Each person or entity executing this Agreement represents that he/she/it        
is authorized to execute the Agreement.  Each person executing this Agreement on behalf of any entity 
represents that he or she is authorized to execute this Agreement on behalf of such entity. 

 



- 4 - 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement to be executed effective as of the day and year 
first above written.  
 
PARK DISTRICT:     CONTRACTOR:   
 
Champaign Park District     Consolidated Communications 
 
 
By: __________________________________   By: ________________________________  

  
        

It’s: _________________________________ 
 
 
 

Date: _________________________________ Date: ________________________________ 



The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through                                        
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 
 

 
 

REPORT TO PARK BOARD 
 
FROM: Sarah Sandquist, Executive Director 
 
DATE: April 10, 2024    
 
SUBJECT: Projects Team Update 
 
Purpose: 
The project team established a formal process and system for handling resident requests, managing 
capital improvement projects, and tracking district-wide strategic initiatives. This system will ensure a 
methodical approach to evaluating, prioritizing, and executing projects, leading to more efficient 
resource allocation and enhanced communication with the Park District and community. 
 
Background: 
Over the past few years, the Board and staff have experienced an increase in requests from 
community members. In response to this influx, a project team was formed, consisting of the 
members from the following departments: 
 

• Executive Director 
• Finance 
• Operations and Planning 
• Administrative Services 

 
The project team was reestablished in July 2023. Meetings occur on a three-week basis. 
 
Process: 
The approach to managing resident requests and capital improvement projects involves a structured 
review of recent requests, current projects in various stages, and a variety of procedures and 
processes. 

 
Discussion: 
Numerous capital projects are either in progress or have been completed. A brief status report has 
been prepared for the larger projects and is listed below to facilitate discussion, if necessary. 
 
In Progress: 

• Shelter at Henry Michael Park 
o Highlighted in 4/10/24 Regular Meeting packet. 

• West Side Park Mobility Upgrades 
o Highlighted in 4/10/24 Regular Meeting packet. 

• Skelton Park Improvements project and African American Heritage Trail updates 
o Nearing completion. Staff anticipate the reopening ribbon cutting ceremony will be 

announced soon.  
• Software Upgrades 

o The Park District’s registration, accounting, budgeting, and work order softwares have 
been simultaneously upgraded to new and cloud versions concurrently with the 
elimination of the program guide and updates to the Park District and CUSR websites. 



The mission of the Champaign Park District is to enhance our community’s quality of life through                                        
positive experiences in parks, recreation, and cultural arts. 

 
 

• Parkland Way 
o The Executive Director will visit Washington D.C. as part of the Champaign County 

First initiative to advocate for funding for the replacement of this road. 
 
Completed since 10/25/23 Special Board Meeting Projects Update: 

• Solar lighting has been added to the Porter Park parking lot. 
• ADA updates and monarch garden area has been completed at Heritage Park. 
• Agility stations have been added to the Dog Park. 
• The flooring in Room 201 in the Springer Cultural Center has been replaced. 
• The Sholem Aquatic Center yellow body slide has been re-coated. 
• Prairie Farm and Operations roofing projects are complete. 
• The Johnston Park playground has been installed. 
• A drinking fountain has been added at Mattis Park.  
• The HVAC system at the Dodds Tennis Center has been upgraded. 

  
In summary, the projects team utilizes its own version of a “Kanban board” to review projects.  This 
process represents methods to visually track and manage workflows. It offers a clear visualization of 
tasks in progress, what's next, and what's been completed, fostering transparency and collaboration 
among team members, the Board, and the community. Since October 2023, the project “Kanban 
board” has identified twenty-seven (27) completed projects, forty (40) that are currently in some 
phase or stage of construction, and 20 total requests from community members. 
 
 
Prepared by:       Reviewed by:  
 
Jarrod Scheunemann                            Sarah Sandquist, CPRE  
Deputy Executive Director                Executive Director   
 


	April 10, 2024 Regular Board Meeting Agenda
	Ordinance No 678: Budget & Appropriation
	Minutes - March 27, 2024 Special Board Meeting
	Resolution - Executive Director Change Orders
	General Fencing Bid Memo
	Agreement

	Douglass Park Improvements Change Order Memo
	Resolution
	Change Order

	Memo - Ord 678 Budget & Appropriation
	Ordinance 678

	Memo - FY25 Budget Book
	Memo - Douglass Park Concession Fiber Installation
	Quote
	Agreement

	Memo - Projects Update



